THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAR 01 2023

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal From The Administrative Law Court  
Honorable Ralph K. Anderson III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000965

JOSEPH KELSEY, # 217218 ..... APPELLANT,

V.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF  
PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES ..... RESPONDENT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

**ALLISON FRANZ #105189**  
**HANNAH FREEDMAN #103373**

Justice 360  
900 Elmwood Ave., Ste. 200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 765-1044  
allison@justice360sc.org  
hannah@justice360sc.org

**JOHN H. BLUME #747**

Cornell Law School  
159 Charles Evans Hughes Hall  
Ithaca, NY 14853

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Administrative Law Court's previous determination that it has jurisdiction over Joseph Kelsey's first parole appeal became the law of the case for subsequent appeals that raise identical questions of fact and law?
2. Whether a denial of parole is arbitrary and capricious in violation of the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act, due process, and *Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008), where the facts of the case clearly demonstrate that the Parole Board has not considered the requisite factors?
3. Whether the Parole Board violates due process or the First Amendment when it denies parole, in whole or in part, in retaliation for the parole applicant's decision to appeal a previous parole denial?
4. Whether the South Carolina Administrative Law Court must allow putative parolees appealing the Parole Board's decision-making process to supplement the record on appeal with the information considered by the Parole Board and required to create a basis for judicial review?

## INTRODUCTION

The facts of this case were presented to this Court in a nearly identical appeal filed two years ago. *See* Final Br. of App., *Kelsey v. S.C. Dep't Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, No. 2020-001473 (Feb. 9, 2021) (*Kelsey I*). That appeal challenged the Parole Board's decision (by a vote of three-to-two in favor of parole) to deny Appellant Joseph Kelsey (Joe) parole solely on the basis of circumstances that he cannot change, a decision that the Administrative Law Court (ALC) held had "effectively denie[d Joe]'s eligibility for parole" and that therefore was not a routine parole denial. *See* R. p. 173. On the merits, the ALC found that the Board's decision-making was "logically and legally absurd," infected with "untrue assertions of fact and improper argument," and that it had produced a "decision that [was] arbitrary and capricious." However, the ALC ultimately held that it lacked the authority to grant Joe any relief. R. p. 179.

Since Joe filed that first appeal, nothing has changed except that he has continued to improve his prison record and further demonstrate his suitability for parole. Nevertheless, when he went up for parole in November 2020, the Board again denied him parole (this time by a vote of six-to-one against parole). R. p. 209. Again, Joe appealed to the ALC and the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (PPP) filed a record on appeal that consisted of just two documents—a backdated form letter with the purported bases for denying Joe parole and an affidavit from a PPP employee about why Joe had received the denial letter three months after his parole hearing. As he did two years prior, Joe moved to stay the briefing schedule and to supplement the record so the ALC could consider Joe's challenges in light of information that was before the agency. This time, the ALC denied both motions after Joe's brief was due and dismissed the case for lack of jurisdiction.

The law of this case was settled in 2020, when the ALC held that it had subject-matter jurisdiction over Joe's appeal because the Board's decision-making effectuated a permanent denial

of parole. The ALC lacked the authority to revisit that decision in this appeal. The lower court’s legal conclusions were in error and this Court should either remand to the ALC for a new appeal with a complete record that includes all information that was presented to the Board or should order PPP to grant Joe the relief to which he is ultimately entitled: a grant of parole.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the Board’s arbitrary, capricious, and retaliatory denial of parole in 2021, followed by an erroneous decision by the ALC in unexplained contradiction of the ALC’s own precedent. The basic facts of the crime and the relative culpabilities of Joe and his codefendants—Geoffrey Payne and Jamie Lee—are described in greater detail in *Kelsey I*, but one simple fact bears repeating: The Supreme Court of South Carolina has twice determined that the evidence “overwhelmingly prove[d]” that Payne, the oldest of the three and the ringleader, was responsible for the victim’s death. *See Payne v. State*, 355 S.C. 642, 586 S.E.2d 857 (2003); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 59–60, 502 S.E.2d 63, 67 (1998) (describing the trial evidence); *see also* R. p. 174 (2020 order from the ALC describing Joe’s and Payne’s relative culpability). Joe, the youngest codefendant and the least culpable, remains the only codefendant still incarcerated.

When Joe went up for parole in November 2019, the Board denied him by a vote of three-to-two *in favor* of parole for one reason: the nature and seriousness of the offense.<sup>1</sup> R. p. 173. Joe appealed to the ALC, which held that it had jurisdiction because the Board’s decision to deny Joe parole “based exclusively on facts that cannot change, is effectively a denial of the inmate’s

---

<sup>1</sup> At Joe’s hearing—but not at Payne’s—only five of the six members of the Board were present. Because the Board’s internal rules require that an offender in Joe’s position receive “yes votes” from at least two-thirds of the members of the Board present in order to get parole, Joe would have needed “yes votes” from four members. *See* S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole & Pardon Servs., Policy & Procedure Manual at 28 (Nov. 2019). Because he only had three yes votes (60%) instead of the required two-thirds (67%), Joe remains incarcerated while Payne and Lee are free.

eligibility for parole.” R. p. 173. The ALC also found that the Board’s decision was “arbitrary and capricious” and the product of a process that was “taint[ed]” by “untrue assertions of fact and improper argument.” R. p. 178–79. Nevertheless, after holding that it had subject-matter jurisdiction, that the agency violated Joe’s substantive rights, and that the agency had violated the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act and precedent from the Supreme Court, the ALC denied Joe all relief because, it reasoned, it lacked the authority to grant Joe the relief he sought. Joe appealed and the parties filed their final briefs in February 2021.

With his appeal to this Court pending oral argument, Joe went up for parole a fourth time in November 2021. He was again denied, despite showing nothing but improvement in his institutional record since his 2019 hearing and despite the fact that by 2021, he was older than Payne was when he was released in 2019. Joe again appealed to the ALC and filed a motion to supplement PPP’s cursory record on appeal along with a motion to stay the briefing schedule. The ALC ignored its previous ruling in *Kelsey I*, denied Joe’s motion to supplement, denied his motion to stay the briefing schedule, determined that it did not have jurisdiction over Joe’s case, and finally dismissed his appeal when Joe sought an order clarifying the ALC’s finding of no jurisdiction.

The ALC orders in both the 2019 and 2021 appeals make three things clear: (1) according to PPP, the Board is not required to comply with constitutional or statutory standards governing state actions and has license to act arbitrarily and capriciously, without any oversight and without ever offering any “rationale as to [the Board’s] reasons or reasoning for the denial,” so long as a notice of parole denial recites one of the statutory parole factors, R. p. 155; (2) without judicial oversight, the Board will continue to violate the rights of putative parolees and the ALC will continue to rubberstamp the Board’s decisions based on a misapprehension of the scope of the ALC’s jurisdiction; and (3) absent judicial intervention, PPP and the ALC will further erode the

judicial branch by making findings directly contrary to those of the Supreme Court of South Carolina (and in other cases by this Court) because, in the words of PPP, “[t]he Supreme Court’s findings are not relevant” to parole decisions, R. p. 156.

#### **I. JOE’S FOURTH PAROLE DENIAL**

While awaiting oral argument on appeal from his 2019 denial, Joe presented the following information to the Board at his 2021 parole hearing:

In the two years that passed from his third hearing to his fourth, Joe maintained his spotless institutional record, obtained a new college degree, started on a Master’s Degree, continued to volunteer additional hours of service to suicidal inmates, and received additional commendations from the Department of Corrections and its staff. *See* R. p. 277 (updated risk assessment from clinical psychologist Dr. Susan C. Knight). Joe enrolled in the Master’s Degree program at Adams State University in Denver, Colorado, becoming one of very few inmates to pursue a Master’s Degree while incarcerated. R. p. 298. Joe continued his volunteer work as an Inmate Mental Health Companion in the Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU) at Broad River, where he is “responsible for observing crisis inmates with the directive of providing emotional support, modeling positive behaviors, and alerting relevant staff if medical care is needed or behavioral concerns are noted.” R. p. 51. When COVID-19 shut down the entire SCDC system a few months later, leaving the CSU understaffed, Joe was one of the first to volunteer his help, one of only three people who continued in-person counselling for inmates in crisis.<sup>2</sup> As of August 2021, Joe had provided

---

<sup>2</sup> With the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and rapid spread of the disease at Broad River, institutional staff have relied on Joe more than ever. When the CSU went into quarantine in July 2020, Joe was one of only two inmates trusted to continue constant monitoring of inmates in the CSU under strict safety conditions that include bi-weekly nasal swab tests. Joe was also tasked with cleaning and sanitizing the entire CSU and with distributing meals. In November 2020, Joe was appointed by the Unit Manager to serve on the Inmate Representative Committee (IRC), a panel that serves as a liaison between prison administration, including the warden, and the inmate

emergency counsel to 294 inmates over the course of more than 2,200 hours. R. p. 289. Finally, in 2021, Joe became a Certified Peer Support Specialist, making him the only inmate in SCDC trained as both a Peer Support Specialist and a Para-Professional Counselor. R. p. 300. To attest to his work on the Crisis Unit, Joe added to his 2021 parole packet letters from Sophie Paquette and Shenelle Hanley, mental health professionals in the Crisis Unit, describing Joe's exemplary service on the Unit and continued self-improvement in SCDC. R. p. 304–05. Joe also included a letter from Joyce Spivey, another mental health professional on the Crisis Unit, also attesting to Joe's remarkable work with the Crisis Unit and his generosity in helping Ms. Spivey pass an important math exam. R. p. 306.

Joe presented the Board with a viable release plan based on the full support of his father, step-mother, mother, siblings, and fiancée. He had four outstanding offers of employment and multiple reliable housing plans.<sup>3</sup> R. p. 69. Moreover, the undisputed evidence before the Board established that Joe is a very low risk for reoffending. He has no violent disciplinary convictions during his entire twenty-eight-year incarceration, which is difficult to do when entering the system as a teenager, and he has not had a single infraction of any kind in over eighteen years.<sup>4</sup> He has maintained this nearly perfect institutional record by a deliberate process of educating himself, growing his Christian faith, and serving his community. Dr. Susan Knight, a board-certified forensic psychologist, performed a full psychological evaluation of Joe in advance of his 2019

---

population.

<sup>3</sup> Joe had employment and housing available through JumpStart. He also could have lived with his father in South Dakota, with his mother in Texas, or with his fiancée, Jennifer Montgomery. Jennifer is the Dean of Students at a public college in Augusta, Georgia, and she owns a three-bedroom home. Jennifer and her mother remain prepared to support Joe with unconditional love, transportation, and financial assistance. R. pp. 69–70.

<sup>4</sup> Joe's only major disciplinary violation in nearly twenty-eight years of incarceration was for using marijuana in 2003.

hearing to assess his “developmental and psychosocial functioning prior to his incarceration; functioning over his incarceration; risk for future violence; and transition needs.” R. pp. 61–79 (Report of Dr. Susan Knight). In his 2021 parole packet, Joe added an updated risk assessment from Dr. Knight, reaffirming her 2019 findings that Joe continued to pose a “low risk” for future violent recidivism and concluding that Joe “exhibits the requisite clinical stability for successful community reintegration, with a low risk of future violence, and a secure transition plan.” R. p. 277 (Updated Report of Dr. Susan Knight).

At Joe’s hearing itself, four attorneys appeared before the Board, including State Senator Gerald Malloy. While Joe was joined in 2019 by Dr. Knight and four additional supporters from his family, PPP refused to allow either Dr. Knight or Joe’s family to join him at his 2021 hearing, either in person or remotely. Senator Malloy, who also appeared on behalf of Payne at the 2019 parole hearing that resulted in Payne’s release from prison, acknowledged that he had made a mistake in advocating for parole for Payne over Joe, but that the Board could remedy that error:

[Payne] came through and . . . he was the main perpetrator of this horrific crime, back whenever Joe was just sixteen years of age. . . . And I think that sometimes we don’t get it right, at particular times, even with this board, but I will tell you that the time is always ripe to do what is right. And if there’s a parole system that we have in place in South Carolina, this is the case that should be entitled to it.

R. pp. 264–65.

Joe again informed the Board of his strong release plans, including multiple housing options and multiple job opportunities waiting for him if he was released. By an objective assessment, Joe presented an even better record in 2021 than in 2019; nonetheless, the Board voted six to one to deny Joe parole, with one Board member who had previously voted for parole now voting to deny it. At the close of the hearing, the Chairman announced that the Board was denying Joe parole on three grounds: (1) “The risk the inmate poses to the community”; (2) “The nature

and seriousness of the inmate’s offense, the circumstances surrounding the offense, and the inmate’s attitude toward it”; and (4) “The inmate’s attitude toward his/her family, the victim, and authority in general.” R. p. 271; *see also* R. p. 11 (listing the 16 criteria the Board considers for parole). PPP’s letter to Joe confirming his denial of parole—which Joe did not receive until February 2022, although it was backdated to November 2021—stated that Joe was denied parole based solely on criteria involving the nature and circumstances of his offense, the only things that Joe can never change.

## II. SECOND APPEAL TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

With his 2019 appeal still pending before this Court, Joe appealed the 2021 denial to the Administrative Law Court. Before filing initial briefing in the ALC, Joe filed a motion to supplement the record on appeal, arguing, *inter alia*:

- (1) The ALC, having already determined that it had jurisdiction to consider Joe’s 2019 appeal, had jurisdiction over this appeal as well; and
- (2) In light of the cursory and insufficient record on appeal filed by PPP, supplementation of the record with the materials Joe provided to the Board for its consideration was required for full briefing of Joe’s case.

R. pp. 214–17. Joe also requested that the ALC stay the briefing schedule pending resolution of his Motion to Supplement because, as the motion explained, Joe could not reference information not contained in PPP’s scant record without supplementing the record, and without that information, he would not be able to raise any arguments about the Board or agency’s defective decision-making. R. pp. 214, 217.

Notwithstanding Judge Funderburk’s finding that the ALC had jurisdiction over Joe’s parole appeals in 2019, Chief Judge Anderson denied Joe’s motion to supplement the record on the basis that Joe had not shown that “the Department’s denial was tantamount to the permanent

denial of parole eligibility.” R. pp. 232–33. Chief Judge Anderson also denied Joe’s request to stay the briefing schedule that would have allowed Joe to file a belated initial brief—three days after that brief was due. R. p. 234. Consequently, Joe recognized that without jurisdiction and with no time left to file a brief, the ALC would consider no further filings in his case, and he appealed. This Court summarily dismissed Joe’s appeal on the grounds that the ALC’s decision denying Joe’s Motion to Supplement the Record did not constitute a final order of dismissal. R. p. 241. Joe returned to the ALC to request that Chief Judge Anderson clarify his finding that the ALC lacked jurisdiction. R. pp. 248–49. The ALC, refusing to admit that it had erred in finding that it lacked jurisdiction and dismissing Joe’s Motion to Supplement, denied Joe’s appeal for failure to file a brief. R. pp. 258–63. In that order, Chief Judge Anderson insisted that Joe should have filed an untimely brief with the ALC, even after it had already decided, in a signed order, that it had no jurisdiction to consider Joe’s case.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court has jurisdiction to review decisions by the ALC. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(A)(l). Although routine parole denials are not subject to review at the ALC and are therefore beyond this Court’s purview, a parole denial resulting from improper or unlawful process falls within the ALC’s jurisdiction. *See Cooper v. S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole & Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 493–94, 661 S.E.2d 106, 108–09. This Court’s review of the controlling legal principles is *de novo*, and the Court has the power to reverse the ALC if its decision is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B); *Gatewood v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 416 S.C. 304, 313, 785 S.E.2d 600, 605 (Ct. App. 2016). Specifically, this Court may “remand the case for further proceedings” or it may reverse or modify the ALC’s decision if the appellant’s “substantive rights have been prejudiced” as a result of: a “violation of constitutional or statutory provisions”; an agency’s exercise of undelegated authority; “unlawful procedure”; any “other error of law”;

“clearly erroneous” factual findings, in view of the whole record; or decision making that is “arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B).

### ARGUMENT

In 2020, the ALC found that Joe’s parole denial was the product of arbitrary and capricious decision-making that was based on inaccurate factual determinations inconsistent with the judicial record, and that the Board’s 2019 decision constituted a permanent denial of parole eligibility. However, when confronted with nearly identical facts in 2021, the ALC concluded the exact opposite: that the Board’s 2021 denial of parole to Joe was “routine” and that the ALC therefore lacked jurisdiction over Joe’s case. The ALC’s holdings in *Kelsey I* and *Kelsey II*—that it lacks the power to remedy constitutional violations when they come in the form of parole denials—misread *Cooper*, invite the Board and PPP to violate the constitution, abdicate the error-correcting function assigned to the ALC by the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (APA), and undermine the goal of judicial economy by forcing all constitutional and statutory violations by the Board to be litigated in this Court. *See Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112 (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-350); *Rose v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 429 S.C. 136, 144, n.5, 838 S.E.2d 505, 510, n.5 (2020) (rejecting PPP’s argument that “the ALC did not have the authority to grant the relief requested,” which would have required the Board to parole the appellant, because the ALC “did not grant or deny [the petitioner] parole itself, but rather required [PPP] to carry out the result” of a lawful parole hearing (cleaned up)). This Court should reverse the ALC’s order, remand Joe’s case, and require the ALC to allow Joe to supplement the record on appeal and to file a brief. Alternatively, the Court could moot the ALC’s errors in *Kelsey II* and grant Joe the relief he continues to seek in *Kelsey I* and that he would receive in the absence of the Board’s arbitrary, capricious, and retaliatory decision-making: release on parole.

**I. THE ALC HAS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER JOE’S CASE.**

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