STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 09 2022

Appeal from Administrative Law Court  
The Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge **SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2021-001162

LARRY BLACKWELL, #176790..... APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND  
PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

**Matthew C. Buchanan  
General Counsel**

**South Carolina Department of Probation,  
Parole and Pardon Services  
P.O. Box 207  
Columbia, South Carolina 20202  
(803) 734-9220**

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

**

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

In his brief, Appellant misses this point, or chooses to ignore it, when he claims he has due process rights in parole that may not be denied unless there is “substantial evidence.”<sup>7</sup> While Appellant relies upon dicta in *Cooper* to argue for expansion of an inmate’s due process rights in routine parole hearings, the actual holding of *Cooper* is far different – the Board is obligated to follow the statute when it considers inmates for parole, and it does so when it informs the inmate in its order rejecting parole that it considered the statutory requirements and published parole consideration criteria. *Id.*, 377 S.C. at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112.

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant cites to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(e) (Supp. 2008), again ignoring the prohibition of jurisdiction found in § 1-23-600(D).

Appellant's reliance on an Ohio case for the ideals of how a parole system should operate is clearly inappropriate as this carries no weight on the courts of this state. In fact, the points it cites are entirely opposite to procedures established in South Carolina law. There is no agency duty to investigate and correct alleged errors in the record, nor is there a case that emphasizes putative parolees have a right to due process in parole hearings. *Contra State ex rel. Keith v. Oh. Adult Parole Auth.*, 24 N.E.3d 1132 (Oh. 2014). Similarly, neither does *Al-Shabazz* hold that putative parolees have a right to due process in parole hearings. This is, again, not to say that inmates have zero due process rights, only that their rights are far diminished due to their status as convicted persons.

Anything further than that, including Appellant's demands discussed supra, is an improper expansion of due process rights far beyond the minimal requirements for parole board hearings, as established by our legislature and our courts.

**b. SCDPPPS is a neutral body merely providing support to the Parole Board.**

Appellant's arguments confuse the relationship between the Department and the Parole Board. Throughout Appellant's brief, the Department and the Parole Board are used interchangeably. But there are key distinctions between the two entities that should be clarified and which inform the analysis.

The Department is a state agency overseen by its director. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-13(A) (Supp. 2011). Its responsibilities include the employment of agents to supervise offenders on various forms of supervision within the community such as parole, probation, and community supervision. It also provides support for the Parole Board in the form of training, developing risk-needs assessment tools, conducting investigations on behalf of the board, as well as providing technical support and a physical location for the Board to meet.

The Parole Board is a seven-member body whose members are appointed by the governor with approval by the Senate. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-10(B) (Supp. 2012). Its sole duty is to consider cases for parole, pardon, and other forms of clemency provided for by law. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-10(B)

Appellant in his brief alleges that the *Department* violated his due process rights by allowing the *Board* to consider allegedly false or inaccurate information. He cites to Parole Form 1212 in his claim that the Department is violating its own policies by not providing the parole file so that the inmate may check it for inaccuracies. However, the Department is under no such obligation to provide the inmate's parole file.<sup>8</sup> Requesting that potential parolees make the Board aware of errors does not equate to requiring the Board to provide any information to these inmates.

Furthermore, Form 1212 is not so inconsistent as what Appellant claims. If an inmate believes the file is incomplete or contains errors, the inmate "must notify the *Board* of the specific error or inaccuracy." Parole Form 1212, S.C. Dep't of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. The Board – as a separate body from the Department and the decision-making authority – can therefore consider the information provided by the inmate at the hearing.

The Board conducts public meetings, and therefore has the obligation to conduct them openly. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-60 (Supp. 1978). The Board must also "permit arguments and

---

<sup>8</sup> The information and data received by probation agents in the course of their duties (in this context, creating the parole consideration file) is privileged and confidential *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-290 (Supp. 1993). This privilege does not belong to the offender or the inmate, as only the director or the court may order the release of those documents. Furthermore, the Board's records of its proceedings are held "subject to the order of the Governor or the General Assembly." S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-40 (1976). Appellant's reliance on the Freedom of Information Act is also misplaced. The FOIA explicitly creates an exception for "[m]atters specifically exempted from disclosure by statute or law." S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(4) (Supp. 2017). Furthermore, inmates are not extended FOIA rights. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(A)(1) (Supp. 2017).

appearances by counsel or any individual before it at any such hearing while considering a case for parole...” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-50 (Supp. 1995). Victims, especially, have the right to notice of the hearings, to appear, and to make a presentation to the Board. S.C. Const. amend. I, 24(A)(10).

The Department’s role in parole hearings is to provide the Board with its investigation into the facts and circumstances of the underlying conviction.<sup>9</sup> The Department also has several administrative duties as it relates to parole hearings, including providing notice to solicitors, victims, and law enforcement agencies involved in the underlying offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-221 (Supp. 1993). Upon receiving such notice, many solicitors, victims, and law enforcement officers choose to provide a statement regarding whether they are in favor or opposed to parole for the inmate. Nowhere in the statutes does it require the Department to vet or review such statements for factual accuracy.

To Appellant, this is a grievous violation of due process – that any victim, solicitor or law enforcement officer could make a statement that contains what he believes to be factual inaccuracies.

Respondent submits that Appellant is again overly exaggerating the due process rights he actually has at parole consideration hearings. The Department is not obligated to review and police statements to the Board and minimal due process does not demand such a massive undertaking.

Essentially, Appellant is asking for the ALC to be given the authority to review the facts provided to the Board for accuracy and, presumably, the power to remand the case back for another

---

<sup>9</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-280(A) (Supp. 2017) “A probation agent must investigate all cases referred to him for investigation by the judges or director and report in writing.” Agents of the Department are tasked with obtaining information to provide the Board. *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-60 (Supp. 1995).

hearing if it determines something was said or written that was false. In this case, the allegedly inaccurate statement was from a solicitor but, if this precedent were set, nothing would prevent an inmate from appealing based on perceived inaccuracies given by victims.<sup>10</sup> It then would stand to reason that, similar to an inmate appealing the denial of parole, those opposed to parole would be able to appeal the grant of parole if it could be shown that the inmate or his supporters provided false information to the Board.

Parole consideration hearings are not trials. Specifically, inmates are not given the right of confrontation at the hearing. S.C. Code § 24-21-50 (Supp. 1995). The language in Form 1212 letting the inmate offer information correcting perceived inaccuracies in his file to the Board is not an invitation to endlessly litigate the facts of the offense or an offer by the Department to police the statements of those who may be opposed to parole. Similarly, there is no requirement for the Board to modify its files in any way after receiving notification from the inmate. Though the Board and its support staff keep thorough records, there is nothing mandating action of any type by the Board after hearing of alleged inconsistencies.

The Parole Board sits in a quasi-judicial capacity. They are the sole determiners of whether a parole-eligible inmate may be released early from his confinement to parole. They have a statutory duty to carefully consider the inmate's record "before, during, and after imprisonment, and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board" that the inmate is deserving of parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640 (Supp. 2010). Inherent in this authority is the power to weigh and consider the competing interests of the inmate and his supporters who are in

---

<sup>10</sup> This especially is problematic, as victims often speak to the Board about their personal experiences or recollection of events that do not match up with trial testimony or other court records. Therefore, statements that may be easily demonstrated as "objectively false" could become the grounds for endless litigation over what a victim may or may not relate to the Board.

favor of parole against the opinions and feelings of the victims, solicitors and officers who would oppose it. Just as a sentencing judge considers the usually diametrically opposed viewpoints of victims and supporters of the defendant, so do the members of the Parole Board. This balancing can also be equated to how juries consider and weigh the believability of the evidence when considering if the State has met its burden of proof. However, before juries, a criminal defendant has not yet been divested of all of his constitutionally-guaranteed rights. Once he has been convicted, though, his rights are significantly diminished. It is in this state that an inmate faces the Parole Board.

**c. The Appellant's own actions at the hearing satisfied any due process concerns related to his underlying complaint.**

Respondent submits that even if this Court determines there are some due process rights against patently false information being presented to the Board during a parole consideration hearing – which it cautions could have serious ramifications discussed *infra* – there was absolutely no due process violation in the instant case.

As an initial matter, Respondent disputes the allegation that the information in Solicitor Barnette's statement was "objectively false." Specifically, Solicitor Barnette told officials with the Department that he stood by his statement, even after being provided a copy of the SLED report for review.<sup>11</sup> R.\*. The Department was not the investigating agency and, therefore, could not be expected to know the issues in detail – certainly not more than what a solicitor (and putative victim) would know. Hence, the Department's stance was not to weigh in on the veracity of Solicitor

---

<sup>11</sup> Again, this was not provided to the ALC and, as such, Respondent objects to its inclusion in the record before this court. (See footnote 1)

Barnette's statement and instead allow Appellant's attorney to advocate for his client – exactly what Form 1212 allows.

Furthermore, as a review of the transcript shows,<sup>12</sup> the Board did in fact receive the SLED report, heard the arguments by Appellant's attorney, and still elected to deny him parole.

Despite his attorney raising these same issues to the Board and providing information that could purportedly refute Solicitor Barnette's statement, Appellant still claims that a due process violation occurred. He points to a Department employee "denigrating" the information provided, but the employee said nothing that was not correct – simply that the SLED report was received from Appellant's attorney, not from SLED itself.

Part of the Department's training to the Board (see S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-10(D) and (E)) is about what goes into the Department's efforts to investigate the facts of the underlying offense – which is derived from incident reports, supplemental reports, and court documents. The Board is informed that the Department only endorses the file it prepares, and does not endorse statements from the inmate, victims, and others. The statement by the official that, "the SLED report was provided by the inmate's attorney, not official from SLED, and it needs to be reviewed as such," that Appellant decries as denigrating, was merely reiterating that position that the Department itself did not prepare the document.

Consequently, there cannot be a due process violation if the Board was informed of Appellant's position about the perceived inaccuracy in Solicitor Barnette's statement of opposition and the SLED report was provided to the Board at their request. The Board's autonomy and sole

---

<sup>12</sup> Although referencing the transcript in this reply, Respondent does not concede that the ALC should have supplemented the record. Furthermore, the transcript is not an official recreation of the recording of the parole hearing in question. The Department records via audio recording, but does not transcribe, the Board's hearings. See footnote 1.

authority over parole decisions would be upended if this Court were to allow the ALC to consider this appeal, presumably with the authority to substitute its own judgment of the facts, as Appellant argues. Such a result would open all parole hearings into needless re-trials over the facts and evidence, which is often disputed, and invite endless appeals over the Board's decision-making.

**d. The Parole Board's grounds for denial of parole show that they did not rely on a single factor when denying parole.**

Respondent contends that the ALC lacks jurisdiction to consider all appeals from routine denials of parole, and this Court should dismiss this entire appeal on that ground and that ground alone. The minimal due process rights conferred to a parole-eligible inmate are satisfied if the Board follows the requirements of *Cooper* and the ALC has no jurisdiction to hear appeals from the routine denial of parole. *Supra*.

However, Appellant contends that his due process rights were violated by the inclusion of a statement of opposition by Solicitor Barnette that contained alleged inaccuracies, which should entitle him to a remand with instructions to correct the perceived inaccuracies before again being presented to the Board. Appellant has not shown, however, that it was solely the alleged inaccuracies that caused the Board to deny him parole. In fact, the Board's letter of rejection included *numerous* grounds for rejection – none of them related to Solicitor Barnette's letter of opposition. See *I'On L.L.C., v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (an appellate court can affirm for any reason appearing in the record).

The Board's reasons for denial were: the nature and seriousness of the current offense, indication of violence in this or previous offense, use of a deadly weapon in this or previous offense, criminal record indicates poor community adjustment, and a failure to successfully complete a community supervision program. A remand for a new hearing would not change the grounds for denial as stated by the Board.

Appellate courts considering criminal appeals are required to conduct a harmless error analysis. “Most trial errors, even those which violate a defendant’s constitutional rights, are subject to harmless-error analysis.” *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (citing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 111 S.Ct. 1246 (1991)). The harmless error doctrine instructs an appellate court to uphold convictions despite an error – even if clearly demonstrated – was determined to be immaterial.

Respondent is not advocating for this Court to create a “harmless error” rule in the context of parole board hearings, given the fact that – quite simply – there is no right to appeal a routine denial of parole. However, the point stands to illustrate how extreme Appellant’s position is. If a criminal defendant’s conviction can be upheld despite the existence of an error in his trial, then an inmate who does not have the same constitutional protections as a defendant should not be able to force a remand just because he alleges an inaccuracy in the information before the Board, information that appears to have played no role in the Board’s ultimate decision.

### **CONCLUSION**